
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor J Burrell Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor R M Currans Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Councillor Mrs M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor C S McLean

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 15 November 2016

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Tuesday 15 November 2016

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 
September 2016 

(Pages 1 - 
18)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees - Cabinet 27 
October 2016 

(Pages 19 
- 20)

To consider the response of Cabinet to the Committee’s referral 
report of 27 October 2016.

6. Chairman's Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 21 
- 26)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 7 
November 2016 to 31 March 2017. 

8. Draw-Down : Ebbsfleet Garden City - presentation by Mr Paul 
Spooner, CEO Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
Presentation followed by Q&A.



9. Orchard Theatre Annual Report 2015 - 16 [Work Plan] (Pages 27 
- 46)

To note the contents of The Orchard Theatre Annual Report for 2015-
16 as presented by the Theatre Director, Mr Chris Glover of HQ 
Theatres & Hospitality.

10. Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2016-17 (Pages 47 
- 48)

To review the current Work Plan for 2016-17 (attached).



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 13 September 
2016 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor Mrs. M I Peters (Substitute)
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)

Adrian Gowan – Policy & Corporate Support 
Manager

Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

Mr Jim Lowrie – Chairman, Dartford Cricket Club 

David Beaver – Head of Waste Management & 
Business Services, KCC

Hannah Allard – Waste Business Development 
Manager, KCC 

Nichola Hood – Waste Business Partnership 
Manager, KCC

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor Mrs. P A Thurlow, Portfolio Holder for 
Events, Leisure & Heritage



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

2

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors: J Burrell, Mrs 
R M Currans (Substitute Cllr. M I Peters) J A Hayes and D J Reynolds.

The Chairman welcomed Mr Jim Lowrie, Chairman of Dartford Cricket Club to 
the meeting and thanked Kent County Council officers David Beaver, Hannah 
Allard and Nichola Hood for agreeing to attend Scrutiny and inform Members 
regarding KCC’s Waste Management Strategy going forward. 

The Cabinet Portfolio holder for Events, Leisure & Heritage was welcomed to 
the proceedings and the Chairman also noted the presence of the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services), the Policy & Corporate Support Manager and the 
Waste & Parks Manager to respond to Members’ concerns. Members were 
advised that the Strategic Director (External Services) and the Leisure & 
Communities Officer were on leave.

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 19 
APRIL 2016 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2016 be confirmed as 
accurate.

4. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman announced that there were no urgent items for consideration.

5. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

6. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

The Chairman welcomed Councillor Mark Maddison to his first meeting of 
Scrutiny as a full member of the Committee, having previously attended as a 
Substitute.

7. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED: 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

3

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 August 2016 to 
31 December 2016 be noted.

8. DARTFORD CRICKET CLUB IN HESKETH PARK - UPDATE 

The Chairman renewed his welcome to Mr Jim Lowrie, Chairman of Dartford 
Cricket Club (DCC) and confirmed that all Members had received a copy of 
the Club’s Community Use Information note tabled that evening.

He reminded Members of the background to the Work Plan item. He advised 
that  the provision of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park by the Council 
had originally been drawn-down by the Committee for scrutiny as a Key 
Decision by Cabinet in the published Regulation Notice for July 2014 [Min. 
No. 9 refers]. 

The Committee had noted at that time the substantial investment the provision 
of the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park represented for the Council, and 
had expressed a wish to see measurable outcomes for that investment in 
terms of youth development and benefits to the wider Dartford community. 
The Committee had added the topic to its rolling Work Plan with a view to 
receiving a future update report, once the new pavilion building was 
completed and the facility up and running.

The Chairman invited the Policy & Corporate Support Manager (P&CSM) to 
update the Committee regarding the return the Council had achieved on its 
substantial investment to date, following completion of the pavilion building in 
April/May 2015 and its initial 12 months of operation by DCC. In addition to 
identifying measureable benefits for youth and the wider Dartford community, 
the Chairman asked how the investment in the new Pavilion had met the 
relevant Objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan.

The P&CSM advised the Committee that the aim of the Grant Funding of £1M 
to build the new Cricket Pavilion in Hesketh Park was part of the Council’s 
Community Facilities Programme for 2014-15. The old cricket pavilion in 
Hesketh Park had fallen into such a state of dis-repair as to be considered no 
longer ‘fit for purpose’ and had been restricting the development of Dartford 
Cricket Club (DCC) as a consequence. The new facility had allowed DCC to 
expand its sporting potential and play a fuller role in support of a number of 
Health & Wellbeing initiatives across the Borough, including those to combat 
obesity which was above the Kent average in Dartford. 

The DCC Chairman added that the Council’s decision to provide Grant 
Funding to build the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park was not simply a 
case of improving an existing facility to make it better; it was a completely new 
facility. The old cricket pavilion had degenerated to the extent that parts of it 
were unsafe and the building as a whole ‘unfit for purpose’. He estimated that 
in a further 5 years the old pavilion would have fallen into complete disrepair 
and that without the Council’s intervention of Grant Funding to build a new 
cricket pavilion, Dartford Cricket Club would have ceased to exist.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

4

The Committee Chairman asked what measures had been put in place with 
the local population to encourage participation in the expanded facilities 
available at the new Cricket Pavilion and whether the Council had set DCC 
any targets for that public participation, in terms of figures for each 
programme of activity or sport. 
The P&CSM referred Members to the Club’s ‘Community Use Information’ 
sheet tabled for the Committee’s consideration that evening. The Sheet 
provided brief Quantative metrics plus a Qualitative commentary on the first 
12 months of the new pavilion’s operation by DCC since April/May 2015. He 
reminded Members that the Council owned the new cricket pavilion and had 
helped support the Club through the provisions of the current tenancy 
agreement [lease] with the Council. The Club was a tenant of a Council 
property; it was not providing a service to the Council so ‘targets’ were not 
appropriate and did not apply to the current lease arrangements. However, 
the Club was developing outreach programmes in the local community 
(including with Dartford Football Club in Princes Park) and those programmes 
were beginning to achieve health benefits for participating residents and the 
new Pavilion had engendered an improved sense of community in the area.

The Chairman suggested that the Council’s allocation of such a substantial 
sum of Council Tax payer’s monies to build the new Cricket Pavilion in 
Hesketh Park should be subject to transparent Member scrutiny; and that 
clear and demonstrable outcomes for that investment should be measured in 
terms of a tangible improvement in the health and wellbeing of the wider 
Dartford community, in addition to meeting Objectives in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.

The P&CSM advised Members that the new Pavilion in Hesketh Park had not 
been constructed as a gift to Dartford Cricket Club. It was a Council asset 
which would increase in value over the years, in addition to earning income 
through continued leasing arrangements. With regard to tangible benefits from 
the Council's investment; the intention of Cabinet was to allow DCC, with its 
expertise in the sporting field, to lead on the development and range of 
activities that Dartford residents could participate in at the new Pavilion 
facility. He added; that there was no comparison to be drawn between the 
Council’s leasing arrangements with DCC for the new Pavilion and the 
Council’s (separate) commercial arrangements with Dartford Football Club 
(DFC) in Princes Park. DFC did provide a service to the Council which was 
appropriately governed by the terms of a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with 
DFC, which included targets to be met by the football club. 

In response to specific questions from Members the P&CSM and the 
Chairman of DCC confirmed the following points:

 DCC proposed to continue to grow the Schools Programme to meet 
demand, in the second year of operation in the new Pavilion;

 Through the continued provision of facilities for the Afro-
Caribbean/Asian centred cricket team at Hesketh Park, it was hoped 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

5

to develop a Jamaican exchange programme, with Dartford players 
visiting the Caribbean and Jamaican players visiting DCC;

 Regular community bookings for the new improved Pavilion facilities 
had increased in the first 12 months of operation in comparison to 
bookings for the old pavilion; 

 The Club would be submitting a revised proposal to the Council for the 
erection of smaller and fewer advertising hoardings in Hesketh Park 
for consideration by the appropriate Council Committee [DTOC];

 DCC continued to make the new Pavilion facilities available to 
members of Dartford Road Runners and to Dartford Cycle Club during 
the Winter months.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Events, Leisure and Heritage advised the 
Committee that the general aim of Cabinet (in terms of a return on the 
Council’s investment in the new pavilion) was to increase the number of boys 
and girls using the new facilities year on year. No specific targets had been 
set for DCC [as tenant] regarding numbers of participants or type and variety 
of community initiatives it proposed. However, anecdotal evidence relayed to 
Councillors and Officers who regularly visited the Park and new pavilion was 
positive, and indicated that the Council was already receiving a strong return 
on its investment in the provision of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park.

The P&CSM confirmed that; whilst no targets had been set with DCC, the 
Council’s Leisure & Communities Officer continued to hold regular meetings 
with the Club as they acclimatised to the new Pavilion building and took 
forward their various programmes for greater community involvement in the 
new Hesketh Park facilities. The Club with their sporting expertise had taken 
the lead in the development of a community programme of activities for 
Hesketh Park, with the Leisure & Communities Officer providing the 
‘monitoring’ role for the Council, through his regular meetings with Club 
officials. 

The Chairman thanked the Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the P&CSM for their 
comments and further detailed background in support of the Council’s 
investment in the new Pavilion in Hesketh Park. However, he expressed his 
continued dissatisfaction over the lack of measureable outcomes for the 
Council’s significant investment in the new Pavilion; both in terms of increased 
community benefit and in meeting the Objectives of the Council’s Corporate 
Plan. 

There were no targets in place with the Club regarding their proposals to 
develop a community programme using the new Pavilion facilities; no 
mechanisms to drive forward and measure the development of the Club’s 
proposed community programme and no discernible checks on delivery of the 
project. There was regular contact between the Club and the Council, but no 
concerted monitoring and analysis of what the Club had achieved to date or 
proposed for the future, in terms of youth development and enhancing the 
health and well-being of the wider community.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

6

The Chairman acknowledged that the Council’s arrangements with DCC as 
tenant of the new pavilion in Hesketh Park, differed from the commercial 
arrangements the Council held, separately, with DFC for the management of 
the facilities in Princes Park; or with HQ Theatres Ltd. for the management of 
The Orchard Theatre, Dartford. However; he also noted that Cabinet, in taking 
its decision to fund the provision of a new Pavilion in Hesketh Park [Cabinet 
Min. Nos 7 and 14 [EXEMPT] and report of 14 June 2014 refer] had linked 
that significant  investment to achieving outcomes in terms of Corporate Plan 
Objectives [HW2 – increased opportunities for participation in sporting, 
cultural and leisure activities]. 

The Chairman also accepted that it was for the Club [as tenant] in 
consultation with Council Officers and ultimately Cabinet; to decide the nature 
and extent of those discernible outcomes in terms of meeting the Council’s 
Corporate Objectives. However, he also maintained that it was the role of the 
Scrutiny Committee to ensure that the delivery of discernible outcomes on the 
Council’s investment was undertaken in a transparent manner, and that those 
outcomes were clear, measureable, and related to the Council’s Corporate 
Objectives. 

In subsequent discussion of the Chairman’s proposals for clear and 
measureable outcomes on the Council’s investment in the provision of a new 
pavilion in Hesketh Park, Members made the following suggestions: 

 To record the number of resident’s [broken down by age and gender] 
undertaking healthy activity at the new pavilion facilities in the 2ND year 
of its operation by DCC (as tenant);

 To monitor the continued performance of DCC in providing community 
activity and health and well-being programmes at the new pavilion and 
to measure that provision as a proportion of the Council’s overall 
provision to Dartford residents;

 To gauge the contribution that the provision of a new cricket pavilion by 
the Council in Hesketh Park has made to reducing obesity levels in the 
Borough. 

The Chairman thanked Committee Members for their suggestions and the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the Policy & Corporate Support Manager 
(P&CSM) for their attendance and input to the discussion. 

He proposed that the Committee refer its concerns and suggestions for clear 
and measurable outcomes to Cabinet for consideration and appropriate 
response, that the Committee re-visit the topic in light of that Cabinet 
response and that a further update report be submitted by Officers to the 
Committee following a further 12 months of operation of the new pavilion 
facility by Dartford Cricket Club (as tenant).

RESOLVED:



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

7

1. That the Committee’s concerns and proposals [as detailed above] 
regarding the need for clear and measureable outcomes in respect of 
the Council’s significant investment of capital funding for the provision 
of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, Dartford; be referred to 
Cabinet for consideration and appropriate response;

2. That Officers, in consultation with representatives of Dartford Cricket 
Club (DCC), submit a comprehensive update report to a future meeting 
of the Committee, following completion of a further 12 months of 
operation of the new pavilion facilities by DCC [as tenant];

3. That the update report includes details of how DCC’s [continued] 
programme of community activities and initiatives in the period under 
review have contributed, inter alia, to the achievement of relevant 
Objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

9. DISPOSAL OF DARTFORD HOUSEHOLD WASTE - PRESENTATION BY 
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 

The Chairman renewed his welcome to the Waste and Parks Manager and 
invited his guests from KCC to make their presentation.

David Beaver, Head of Waste Management and Business Services, KCC 
outlined for the Committee, the overall structure in place in Kent for the 
collection and disposal of household waste. 

KCC held the statutory role of Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) for Kent and 
held the overall responsibility for waste policy and implementation for the 
County. The Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) was the administrative body 
set up to achieve common goals for waste disposal and recycling and, where 
possible, affect economies of scale of operation. The success of the KRP was 
dependent on good co-operation and close working with the individual Kent 
District and Borough Councils in their roles as Waste Collection Authorities 
(WCAs). To help individual Councils achieve collective goals for waste 
collection, the KRP had formed three Project Groups for East, Mid and West 
Kent. The East and Mid Kent Project Groups shared a single contract for the 
collection and disposal of waste for all their Districts and Borough Councils, 
which generated significant economies of operation. It was hoped that a 
single contract for the West Kent Project Group of authorities might also be 
possible in the future. Targets for re-cycling varied across Kent authorities but 
all Kent Councils shared a common strategy to increase re-cycling and further 
reduce the levels of waste going to land–fill sites.

HWRCs and WTSs – Pepperhill Facility

Household Waste and Re-cycling Plants (HWRCs) were for use by residents 
in addition to their local authority collection; Waste Transfer Stations (WTSs) 
were used by local authorities’ to dispose of waste collected from households. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

8

The Pepperhill facility on the A2 operated both as a HWRC and a WTS and 
was used jointly by Dartford and Gravesham Councils and residents of both 
Boroughs. The HWRC operation at Pepperhill had now reached its full 
capacity, leading to frustrating delays in vehicle turnaround times for both 
Councils and residents alike. Contributing factors for the recent delays 
included:

 New/additional use by the Ebbsfleet Garden Development;
 Dartford vehicles currently double-tipping due to a separate tip for 

glass collected at the kerbside;
 Gravesham Direct Labour Organisation (DLO) use caged vehicles 

which required manual unloading;
 Mechanical breakdowns of loading/unloading vehicles.

The KCC contract time for the turnaround of Council vehicles was 25 minutes 
on site, measured from weighbridge to weighbridge. Recent trials conducted 
on Dartford vehicles based on a single tip and an average glass element had 
produced improved turnaround times. Joint discussions between the new 
Pepperhill Operations Manager and the Dartford and Gravesham Waste 
Managers were scheduled for later in September, to agree an improved 
service provision. 

Re-cycling

Kent’s major re-cycling centre was the Allington Incinerator plant where the 
County currently held a contract until 2030. The Allington facility retained a 
capacity to incinerate domestic waste and continued to dispose of white 
goods under a Government funded scheme with contributions from 
manufacturers. This saved individual authorities and KCC significant 
transportation costs. Composting of green waste was good e.g. Crayford plant 
and the percentage of Kent waste processed to land-fill sites was the lowest 
in the U.K. under 5%.

Challenges

Members were advised of the challenges that faced Kent in the continued 
disposal of its waste. Income derived from the re-cycling of other materials at 
the Allington facility had dropped since 2015 reflecting falling prices in the 
commodities market in the preceding year. This translated into a drop in re-
cycling ‘credits’ distributed by KCC to Kent District and Borough authorities. 
The machination of collected waste into Refuse Derived Fuel pallets (RDFs) 
for export to mainland Europe was also experiencing market pressures. 
Kent’s existing clients for RDFs could now source cheaper supplies from 
within mainland Europe and there was a growing need to re-negotiate the 
current contracts within the finite overall budget for Kent. The UK’s Brexit 
decision was a further complication, with both the nature of future waste 
legislation and the long-term relationship with Europe unknown in the short-
term.  



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

9

Kent Waste Disposal Strategy (KWDS)

Hannah Allard, Waste Business Development Manager, KCC stressed the 
importance of a joint KWDS across Kent and the key role to be played by 
individual Borough and District Councils in helping to formulate a common 
disposal strategy with synergies and dovetailing between individual 
authorities.

In May 2016 the KCC Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee had 
approved a draft Strategy document and timeline:

July – September 2016: live Consultation

October – November 2016: Consultation analysis and final strategy

February 2017: Implementation/action plan produced to meet outcomes with 
further consultation where required.

The key driver for the new Strategy was the need to do more with less funding 
and resources, in the face of projected rises in population and housing in the 
period 2015-2031. 

KCC’s main focus in the new Strategy was the West Kent Project Group, with 
Dartford predicted to have the largest projected rise in population in the period 
under review of 39% - double the Kent District average. Addressing the 
current capacity issues at the Pepperhill facility would form part of the new 
Strategy and would be taken forward in open dialogue between KCC and 
Dartford and Gravesham Councils.  

In a subsequent Q&A session with Members the following points were 
confirmed by KCC Officers and the Council’s Waste & Parks Manager:

 The issues at the Pepperhill facility were being addressed by KCC 
together with the operating contractor FCC and the Dartford and 
Gravesham Waste Managers. The principal issue was one of capacity 
rather than the operation of the facility. The current management 
contract with FCC for the Pepperhill facility was due to run until 2035. 
KCC would continue to work with FCC and both Councils to address 
the growing capacity issue at Pepperhill and formulate a plan going 
forward;

 Replacing Pepperhill with a larger facility was a capital investment that 
KCC could not make in the current fiscal climate. No central 
government funding was available and no Section 106 provision in 
place. KCC were in talks with the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
over a possible fiscal contribution, given the increased usage of the 
Pepperhill facility by Garden City residents;

 As and when the Paramount Park project progressed, KCC in 
conjunction with the District and Borough Council’s would develop a 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

10

strategic waste strategy for the increased capacity issues for 
Pepperhill;

 KCC favoured the single collection methodology for the collection of 
household waste which made it easier for residents and had less 
impact on community infra-structures. Kent was better placed than 
most counties in adopting a common single collection specification 
across the County and it was hoped that this would encourage future 
industry invest in Kent’s waste management operation;

 The Brexit vote had caused uncertainty over the future management of 
the waste disposal industry the U.K. It was not clear whether European 
standards for waste management would be retained or new U.K. 
standards applied. European targets for the period 2020 to 2030 were 
10% for landfill [Kent already met this] and 65% for re-cycling. KCC’s 
contract with the Allington re-processing plant was due to end in 2030 
but a new plant at Sittingbourne due to open in 2019 would increase 
capacity in the sector;

 KCC had no statutory responsibility to collect trade waste and was 
aware that this was a contributory factor leading to increased incidents 
of fly-tipping which was a criminal activity. KCC, in conjunction with 
affected Borough(s) was addressing the issue through the ‘Fly-Tipping 
Working Group’ and prosecuting offenders where possible. 

The Chairman thanked his KCC guests for updating the Committee and 
looked forward to viewing KCC’s final Municipal Waste Strategy document in 
due course.

He also encouraged all Dartford Councillors, particularly the County Members, 
to lobby KCC for the construction for a new and expanded HWRC and WTS 
facility at the current Pepperhill site.  

10. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX (DRAW-DOWN) 

Members received as background in the agenda papers [pages 17-66] the 
Cabinet report and appendices of 2 June 2016, which set out the progress 
made to date on the review of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, in liaison 
with other Kent authorities. The report to Cabinet had presented for approval 
a draft consultation document; detailing potential modifications to Dartford’s 
current approved local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

Cabinet resolved on 2 June [Cabinet Min. No. 7 refers] to give the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) delegated authority to publish the consultation 
document on the Council’s website together with a Customer Access Review 
(CAR) document for public response, and a further report should be 
presented to Cabinet in light of that public response. 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised Members that the public 
consultation exercise had concluded the previous week [10 September 2016] 
and that the results were now available to share with the Committee. Given 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

11

the complex nature of the issue, Members were reminded of the background 
to the Government’s introduction of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, 
together with detailed reasons for the proposed changes to the Council’s 
current approved local Scheme:

 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme replaced Council Tax Benefits in 
2013;

 Government regulations protected pensioners under the new 
arrangements which would only affect working age claimants;

 Each Council set its own local Scheme for council tax reduction under 
the new arrangements but within an overall central government funding 
envelope;

 Dartford had consulted other Kent Districts in formulating its local 
Scheme to ensure that it could be delivered within available 
Government  funding;

 The Council proposed that working age claimants now have to pay at 
least 18.5% of their council tax bill equating to an 18.5% reduction in 
the maximum entitlement for working age applicants;

 Dartford (in company with other District authorities) only retained 11% 
of council tax collected, with the majority going to the major preceptors 
Kent County Council, Kent Fire & Rescue Service and Kent Police 
respectively; 

 In recognition of this the major preceptors collectively paid each District 
in Kent £125K p.a. as an administrative fee towards the cost of their 
local Council Tax Reduction Schemes under a 3 year agreement now 
extended for a further year to March 2018; with the provision that 
Districts undertook a full review of their current local schemes;

 Together with other Kent Districts, the Council’s local scheme was 
focussed on the protection of the vulnerable and encouraging working 
age claimants into employment;

 The number of working and pension age claimants in Dartford had 
fallen by approximately 1,000 in the period March 2013 to March 2016 
[6,830 down to 5,871]. However, corresponding reductions in the 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) since March 2013 had left insufficient 
Government funding to support the local scheme in Dartford;

 At present; the Council funded the cost of working age discounts in the 
local Scheme by some £310K p.a. (based on a 100% collection rate of 
council tax which, in reality, was only 84.6%). With reductions in 
Government grant funding set to continue, the current scheme had to 
be reviewed to ensure its financial viability and the Council’s ability to 
protect the most vulnerable. Options to retain the current scheme were 
limited to either raising the council tax or finding further savings from 
within other Council budgets. Doing nothing was not an option and the 
current Scheme had to be reviewed;

 Kent’s major preceptors were also keen for District Council’s to reduce 
the cost of their local schemes, but the greater the discounts the less 
council tax was collected. The major preceptors could not insist on 
particular provisions in local schemes, but they could remove their 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

12

administrative grant leaving the Council to find further savings of £125K 
per annum;

 Such further savings would almost certainly require staffing reductions 
in the Revenue and Benefits team resulting in a negative impact on 
council tax collection rates, placing the Council under even greater 
fiscal pressure.

Dartford together with other Kent Districts had worked with a consultant to 
produce amendments to the current local scheme and published the resultant 
CTRS Consultation document and Customer Access Review following 
Cabinet approval on 2 June 2016 for a period of 12 weeks [Cabinet Min. No. 7 
refers]. The Council also wrote separately to all working age claimants 
advising them of the web link to the Council documents, in addition to offering 
a hard copy of the consultation. All of the Council’s registered social landlords 
were also contacted and advised of the potential changes and consultation 
exercise.

The response to the 12 week consultation had been poor. From a total of 
3,594 recorded working age claimants [as at 31 March 2016] only 82 had 
responded to the survey published on the Council’s website, with a further 14 
hard copy returns. This poor response was in line with the equally low 
response received by the Council when the current Scheme was set and 
working age claimants were asked to contribute to a local Scheme for the first 
time. It appeared that, despite the best efforts of Officers to simplify the 
questionnaire as far as possible; the document was too lengthy or 
complicated for the vast majority of Dartford claimants to complete or that 
claimants were simply not interested in responding. 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised that, given the very low 
response; it was difficult to judge whether the replies received, reflected a 
majority view for all working age claimants or only those that had responded.  
She referred Members to the Questionnaire document [Agenda p.37/56] and 
advised that the Council assumed that it would be taking forward a mixture of 
the proposed options. Principal points that had arisen from Officers’ analysis 
of the responses received from working aged claimants revealed the 
following:

 The majority of respondents recognised that there should be a Scheme 
to provide support to the most vulnerable;

 Option 1: that working age claimants pay 20% of their council tax [up 
from the current 18.5% contribution] - equating to a drop in the current 
discount from 81.5% to 80%. In making the 20% contribution proposal 
the Council were aware of the critical 25% ‘tipping point’ for increased 
contributions, whereby the additional revenue generated would be 
offset by increased collection costs for the Council. KCC had proposed 
a 25% contribution from working age claimants but the Council had 
discounted the suggestion for Dartford’s local Scheme. Responses 
received to the 20% contribution proposal from working age claimants 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

13

showed that 49% were against, 40% in favour and 11% undecided. 
Respondents in favour thought the 1.5% increase equating to £0.27 
per week on average the fairest option. Respondents against felt the 
increase to 20% would impact adversely on those working age 
claimants already struggling with the 18.5% level of contribution; 

 Option 2: this looked to remove the extra allowance to claimants that 
had at least 1 dependent child living with them, to bring the current 
Scheme into line with changes to Housing Benefits, and would result in 
a loss of £3.49 per week to affected households. 46% of respondents 
were against this option, 32% in favour and 22% undecided. 
Respondents against Option 2 felt children would be adversely 
affected. Respondents in favour felt those children were already in 
receipt of sufficient additional benefits;

 Option 3: looked at reducing backdated claims for benefit from 6 
months down to 1 month which Officers judged would have minimal 
impact on most claimants. 52% of respondents were in favour of this 
option with 32% against and 16% undecided. Most respondents felt the 
reduced timescale to make a claim reasonable, but some had 
commented on the length of time taken to process a claim and the 
amount of information required to be collated by respondents in 
support of claims;

 Option 4: proposed setting a minimum level of income for those who 
professed to be self- employed following 12 months of such activity. 
39% of respondents were against this option, 28% in favour and 33% 
undecided. The proposal was aimed at those claimants who professed 
to be self-employed to avoid demonstrating to Job Centres that they 
were actively seeking work and then subsequently claiming to have 
earned little or no income from their self-employment activities. The 
minimum level of earnings to be set for such claimants after 12 months 
professed self-employment would be a minimum level of income in line 
with the National Living Wage based on a 35 hour week. However, 
respondents felt that this Option did not sufficiently allow for the 
fluctuations in income experienced by the self-employed or the 
problems they may encounter in trying to expand their businesses;

 Option 5: proposed reducing the period a person may be absent from 
the United Kingdom and still claim a discount from 13 weeks to 4 
weeks. There was a resounding 76% acceptance for this Option from 
respondents;

 Option 6: looked to reduce the capital limit for claiming a discount from 
£16K to £6K and on current records would only affect 39 claimants in 
the Borough and was a measure that was expected to be applied 
across Kent. However, 46% of Dartford respondents had opposed the 
measure believing that it was too low and would discourage residents 
to save. 41% of respondents supported the proposal;

 Option 7: proposed standardising the non-dependent deduction to £10 
to help simply the current measures. 44% of respondents opposed this 
option, 30% were in favour and 26% were undecided. The proposal 
would impact on 343 current claimants and result in a weekly loss of 
£5.12;



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

14

 Option 8: suggested taking into account Child Maintenance paid to a 
claimant or partner in assessing their income level and any subsequent 
discounted rate for council tax. KCC had expressed concerns over this 
Dartford proposal. 43% of respondents were against the proposal, 40% 
in favour and 17% undecided. Those opposing the proposal expressed 
the concern that child maintenance was paid in support of a child and 
should not therefore form part of calculation to set a council tax 
reduction;

 Option 9: similarly proposed to include any Child Benefit payments to 
claimants or partners in the calculation of a council tax reduction. The 
responses to this option were 54% against, 35% in favour and 11% 
undecided. KCC had not supported this option either, as it went against 
their strategic objectives of helping children and young people to get 
the best start in life, and those respondents who had also opposed it 
did so on the same grounds that Child Benefit was to support that child, 
and should not be used to pay ;

 Option 10: proposed restricting the maximum level of council tax 
reduction to the equivalent of a Band D property, on the basis that if a 
claimant lived in a larger property they should receive less discount. 
KCC had proposed setting the level at Band C [based on average 
property value] but the Council had consulted on the basis of Band D. 
33% of responds opposed the Option, 42% were in favour and 25% 
remained undecided. Respondents who had opposed the Option 
suggested that some claimants had no choice over where they lived 
and that those claimants with larger families required a larger property 
and risked being disadvantaged as a consequence. 

Members were advised that the responses received to the other four Options 
were in the majority supportive and that the next step for Officers was to 
consider the results of the consultation, carry out a revision of the current 
Customer Access Review document and submit a further report to Cabinet in 
due course.

The Chairman said that the Council’s current Customer Access Review 
document required revision. In particular, it did not take note of existing 
Department for Work & Pensions (DWP) evidence that a disproportionate 
number of females claimed council tax discounts due to being in lower income 
brackets than males claiming similar discounts. He also expressed his 
concern that the Council’s proposed changes to their current local Scheme 
would have a disproportionate impact on disabled claimants. Responses to 
the consultation document would inform the Council’s policy going forward but 
the response to date had been poor. 

The Chairman felt that the Questionnaire should have been made clearer to 
respondents, in particular that a mixture of proposed Options could be 
adopted and that it was not a straight choice between e.g. Option 1 and 
Option 2.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

15

Other Members expressed concerns that the Council’s proposals for their 
local Scheme should:

 Not impact adversely on children in claimant households;
 Make greater allowance for the disadvantaged circumstances of 

women;
 Not adversely impact single male parents;
 Allow for a school fees element in the calculation of upper limits of 

Child Maintenance;
 Continue to target and meet resident need;
 Recognise the need for there to be a start-up period for self-employed 

claimants;
 Not discourage claimants from saving
 Recognise and allow for cases of exceptional hardship within an 

agreed timescale;
 Contain an element of risk management in the case of the major Kent 

preceptors withdrawing their support. 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) acknowledged the Chairman’s 
concerns and that of Members, and confirmed that the current Customer 
Access Review (CAR) document would be subject to re-modelling, prior to 
being re-submitted to Cabinet. 

In response to further concerns from the Chairman and Members of his Group 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed that:

 The contribution made by major Kent preceptors was subject to regular 
review, including addressing KCC concerns over the 25% ‘tipping point’ 
factor, whereby the additional revenue collected became subject to 
increased recovery costs for District Councils and a consequent drop in 
council tax revenue being transferred to the major preceptors;

 The major Kent preceptors were under no obligation to continue to pay 
each District Council a £125K p.a. as an administrative fee towards the 
cost of collecting and remitting council tax revenue to them;

 Should the major preceptors withdraw their fiscal support to Boroughs 
Districts; in the case of Dartford, a 2% increase in Council Tax would 
not meet the subsequent fiscal short-fall;

 Cases of exceptional resident hardship would be subject to an 
exceptional financial hardship fund for which a policy would need to be 
agreed;

 Any [upward] revision to Business Rates and the positive addition they 
might make to Council finances in general, and the need to identify less 
savings as a consequence; including proposed Options for a revised 
local Scheme of Support for Council Tax; would be assessed and 
reviewed on an annual basis;

 The Council, together with other Kent District authorities and the 
appointed consultant, would continue to liaise and seek Kent-wide 
solutions for local Schemes of Support for Council Tax and apply those 
agreed solutions to the Dartford model.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

16

  
The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director (Internal Services) for her 
comprehensive update to the Committee and looked forward to viewing the 
revised report and appendices to Cabinet in due course.

11. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16 

The Chairman thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for compiling the 
Committee’s Annual Report for the preceding 2015-16 municipal year and 
recommended that it be submitted to the General Assembly of the Council for 
approval.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Committee’s Annual Report for 2015-16 recording it’s work in 
that municipal cycle be submitted to the General Assembly of the 
Council for approval.

12. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2016-17 

The report asked Members to identify topics for inclusion in the Committee’s 
Work Programme for the 2016-17 municipal year and to approve the initial 
draft Work Plan attached as Appendix A to the report. 

The Chairman thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for his report and draft 
Work Plan which detailed the stock items the Committee considered on an 
annual basis each year. He sought suggestions from Members for further 
topics to include in the Committee’s Work Programme for 2016-17 and 
encouraged all Members to make use of the Draw-Down facility available for 
every meeting, to consider topics on an ad-hoc basis, with the prior 
agreement of the Managing Director. 

The Chairman said that he had discerned a continuous improvement in the 
quality of the Committee’s Work Programme during the 2015-16 municipal 
cycle. He felt greater value had been obtained through the Committee’s 
concentration on pre-implementation work in relation to Cabinet and Key 
decisions, prior to presentation to the General Assembly of the Council for 
approval and implementation. This had in turn generated beneficial outcomes 
for both the Council and the residents of Dartford.

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Work Plan (attached at Appendix A to the report) be 
approved;

2. That the Committee review its Work Plan at each subsequent meeting 
in the 2016-17 municipal cycle, adding new topics as appropriate and 
re-scheduling existing items as necessary.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2016

17

The meeting closed at 9.55 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes
CHAIRMAN





Extract from the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held on 27 October 2016

59. NEW CRICKET PAVILION IN HESKETH PARK, DARTFORD: REFERENCE 
FROM THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

This report asked Cabinet to consider the concerns raised at the Scrutiny 
meeting held on 13 September 2016, which related to the perceived lack of clear 
and measurable outcomes, in terms of meeting Corporate Plan objectives, 
following the decision by Cabinet to invest £1m for the construction of a new 
cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park.

Members referred to the way that the Council was investing in sports facilities in 
the Borough to give residents a range of opportunities to improve their health and 
wellbeing and questioned whether it would be beneficial to spend time and effort 
trying to identify those that were contributing towards weight loss.

The Strategic Director (External Services) agreed that it would be difficult to 
attribute obesity related improvements to a particular facility but noted that 
available statistics showed that there had been a 4.9% increase in those taking 
part in physical activities over the last 2 years, which could, in part, be due to the 
range of facilities being made available.

The Chairman endorsed the views that had been expressed and referred to 
Dartford Cricket Club’s long history and that fact that the old pavilion had been in 
very poor condition and unable to provide activities for residents. He said that if 
the Council had chosen not to provide a new pavilion it would have put the 
Cricket Club at risk of closure, and denied those who now make full use of the 
facility the opportunity to get involved. He said that he considered that it had 
been an extremely worthwhile investment and added further sporting options to 
those already being provided following the Council’s previous investments in 
swimming, football, judo and skateboarding. He then noted how people living in 
other Boroughs complain about the lack of facilities available and confirmed the 
Council’s commitment to making further funding available for future sporting 
related developments. Having considered the issues raised by the Scrutiny 
Committee he suggested that all those facilities that have benefited from the 
Council’s investments be invited to submit a short annual review, which would 
summarise their activities and links with the community.

Members endorsed this proposal and referred to the use of Hesketh Park as a 
whole and the fact that more spectators and walkers were being attracted to the 
Park since the pavilion had been built. They also noted the benefit that this was 
having for Hesketh Bowls Club as those that visit are made aware that cricket is 
not the only sport played in the Park.



RESOLVED:

1. That Scrutiny Committee’s request for measurable outcomes to support 
the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives, as detailed in para. 3.4 of the 
report, be noted.

2. That operators of all those facilities that have benefited from Council 
investment be invited to submit a short annual review for publication, 
which would summarise their activities and links with the community.

3. That Cabinet’s decision be reported back to the Scrutiny Committee.



7 November 2016 - 31 March 2017

1 of 5

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 5

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Civil Penalties for Council Tax, 
Council Tax Reduction and 
Housing Benefit

This report seeks approval to impose 
civil penalties where a customer, 
without reasonable excuse, supplies 
incorrect information or fails to notify 
the Council of a change in 
circumstances relating to Council 
Tax liability, Council Tax discounts 
and exemptions, Council Tax 
Reduction and Housing Benefit. It 
also presents the Council Tax 
Support Sanction and Prosecution 
Policy for approval.

Cabinet
8 Dec 2016

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Exceptional Hardship Policy for 
Council Tax Reduction

This report presents the Exceptional 
Hardship Policy for Member 
approval, to be introduced alongside 
the changes proposed to the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme.

Cabinet
8 Dec 2016

Public consultation via 
website carried out on 
Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme for 12 weeks 
from July to September 
2016.

Reports to Cabinet 2 
June 2016
and 27 October 2016

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



3 of 5

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Risk Based Verification for the 
Administration of Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Reduction

This report advises Cabinet of the 
new approach to be taken in respect 
of verifying new claims and changes 
in circumstances for Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Reduction and asks 
Cabinet to approve the associated 
Risk Based Verification Policy.

Cabinet
8 Dec 2016

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 7 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Ebbsfleet Implementation 
Framework Prepared by the 
Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation

This report is responding to the 
request by the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation for the 
Council to endorse their proposed 
Implementation Framework in order 
that they can use it as a material 
consideration when determining 
planning applications.

Cabinet
8 Dec 2016

Ebbsfleet 
Implementation 
Framework

Sonia Bunn, Development 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343620
sonia.bunn@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



4 of 5

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

New Build Housing Tender 
Acceptance and Project Update

The report provides details of the 
tender returns and seeks a 
recommendation to appoint a 
contractor to build the HRA new 
build social rented units at the 
Coleridge Road & 2a Temple Hill 
Square sites. The report also 
provides a general update on the 
progress made regarding the 
Council’s new build HRA housing 
programme.

Cabinet
8 Dec 2016

Peter Dosad, Head of Housing
Tel: 01322 343327
peter.dosad@dartford.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Local Scheme of Support for 
Council Tax

To approve revisions to the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme to be 
effective from 1 April 2017.

General Assembly 
of the Council
12 Dec 2016

Public consultation via 
website.

Consultation with Major 
preceptors.

Report to Cabinet 2 
Jun 2016

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing Benefit 
overpayments where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment, where the 
Tribunals Service has exercised its 
discretion not to recover overpaid sums 
or where recovery is not permissible 
under the relevant Housing Benefit or 
Council Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
26 Jan 2017

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



5 of 5

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been possible 
to obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the ratepayer cannot 
be traced or where the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

Cabinet
26 Jan 2017

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2017/18

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2017/18, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2017/18, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2017/18, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2017/18 and to determine sundry 
related matters.

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
27 Feb 2017

Budget consultation with 
residents and 
businesses – December 
to January - mainly via 
website.

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
15 November 2016

THE ORCHARD THEATRE ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16

1. Summary

1.1  This report presents the Annual Report for 2015/16 from the management 
company of The Orchard Theatre, HQ Theatres Ltd.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the 2015/16 Annual Report for The Orchard Theatre be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Orchard Theatre is managed by Orchard Theatre Dartford Limited 
which is part of the HQ Theatres & Hospitality and QDOS 
Entertainment group, under a twenty year management contract with 
the Council, which is now in its seventh year. The contract requires HQ 
Theatres Ltd to submit an Annual Report setting out the performance of 
the Theatre in relation to a series of performance indicators which are 
specified in the contract.

3.2. The targets are not to be rigidly applied but to be used as reference 
points against which to measure whether, overall, the services are 
being provided as envisaged. The Monitoring Schedule is attached as 
Appendix A.

3.3. The Annual Report for 2015/16 is attached as Appendix B.

3.4. The Annual Accounts are expected to be available shortly. Members 
will be notified when they are received.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

HW2 Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural 
and leisure opportunities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The contract for the management of The Orchard 
Theatre is based on the Council paying the 
contractor a set management fee each year, and 
receiving a small share of any net profit.  The 
management fee payable for the financial year 
2015/16 was £355,912.89; the profit share 
received in 2015/16 was £24,700, which related 
to 2014/15. The profit share for 2015/16 has still 
to be advised. 

Legal Implications None 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
15 November 2016

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment The transfer of the Theatre management to a 
private operator has significantly reduced the 
commercial risk to the Council, without 
compromising the quality of the Theatre or its 
important role in the community. 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Monitoring Schedule
Appendix B – The Orchard Annual Report 2015/16

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Contract for Theatre 
Management Services 16 
March 2010.

Stephen Jefferson 
(01322) 343524

Policy & 
Corporate 
Support

N/A



sjefferson
Text Box
Appendix A





 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

1 

 

Annual Report  
1st April 2015 – 31st March 2016 
 

Introduction 
 
This was HQ Theatre & Hospitality’s (HQT&H) seventh year managing The Orchard Theatre 
Dartford (OTD) on behalf of Dartford Borough Council (DBC), bringing a significant increase in 
the number and range of performances.  Highlights during the year 2015/16 included: 
 
• Attendance increased by 9% to 225,938, with the average capacity remaining at 61%, 

despite 45 (12%) more performances than the previous year.   
 
• OTD remains on the number one touring circuit, bringing the biggest and best productions 

to Dartford, including:  
- High profile music artistes, including UB40, LuLu and Jools Holland. 
- Sustaining a full programme of well attended drama, including the launch of a new tour 

of the National Theatre production of An Inspector Calls prior to a UK tour and West End 
transfer, The Full Monty and The 39 Steps following West End runs, Peter Pan Goes 
Wrong prior to the West End and The Importance of Being Earnest with an all star cast, 
including Nigel Havers and Sian Philips. 

- Musicals included Anything Goes, Oklahoma!, Avenue Q, Annie, Footloose and for the 
first time the multi-award winning West End and Broadway production of Chicago 
starring John Partridge, Sam Baily and Hayley Tamaddon. 

- Dick Whittington starring Shane Richie received superb audience feedback and has 
resulted in record breaking advance sales for Snow White in 16/17.  The pantomime was 
complemented with a full seasonal offer, including Winter Wonderland, Die Fledermaus, 
That’ll Be The Day Christmas Show and the Magic of Christmas charity concert. 

- The Royal Philharmonic Orchestra residency with two more concerts. 
- Sell-out comedy appearances from Al Murray, Tim Vine and Ken Dodd.    
- The popular themed dining event programme included Only Fools and Three Courses, 

The Wedding Party and Orchard Jazz Club.    
- Dance included The Last Tango, Jaleo Flamenco and prior to or post Sadler’s Wells, the 

Ballet Boyz, Zoo Nation and Inala. 
 
• The profile of the venue remains high with regular coverage on regional and national media, 

including television.  
 
• The investment programme was completed with the installation of air cooling for the first 

time in the auditorium and upper foyer in time for the summer, thanks to the generous 
financial contribution and support from DBC.   

 
• The Creative Learning programme grows from strength to strength with projects supporting 

work on the main stage, the Orchard Youth Theatre membership has grown and showcases 
its work on the stage and OTD took part in the National Theatre Young Connections 
competition for the first time. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

2 

 

 

• OTD became one of only a few theatres to be awarded Investors in People accreditation. 
 

 The Restaurant increased to 60 covers, providing customers with a full theatre and dining 
experience.   

 
 
 
The Orchard Theatre remained in contact with Dartford Borough Council throughout the year 
through regular client meetings – the agenda includes updates on the maintenance of the 
building, attendance, programming, HR, Health and Safety, customer feedback and marketing 
and sales. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

3 

 

Number of performances by genre 
 

 

Genre Target 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 Variance 

 to 

target 

Music 40 32 63 74 58 42 43 58 18 

Comedy 30 26 23 18 21 22 30 29 -1 

Variety 40 66 23 13 37 42 41 46 6 

Children’s 

Entertainment 

18 54 39 48 24 41 36 69 51 

Musical 48 39 48 34 63 83 83 75 27 

Ballet  8 3 7 6 4 6 7 8  

Opera  8 3 0 3 1 1 10 4 -4 

Spoken Word 8 3 5 2 0 3 6 6 -2 

Drama 24 25 33 22 1 22 53 53 29 

Dance  6 0 14 14 2 8 11 22 16 

Orchestral 

Concerts 

4 4 1 2 5 5 2 2 -2 

New and 

World Music 

4 0 0 0 0 2 1 2 -2 

Pantomime 54 62 61 49 50 39 38 38 -16 

Local Use No 

Target 

30 42 33 34 28 23 17 17 

Total 

performances 

292 347 359 318 294 344 384 429 137 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

4 

 

Performance attendance 

 

 

Performance analysis 

 

Attendance increased by 9% to 225,938, with the average capacity remaining at 61%, despite a 

record number 429 performances - 45 (12%) more than the previous year and 137 more than 

target.  Stand-out week long successes included the musical Chicago (98%), the play The Full 

Monty (80%), dance show The Last Tango (76%) and family favourite Gangsta Granny (89%). 

 

OTD has continued its programming strategy of scheduling approximately three weekly 
productions per month, allowing the Orchard Theatre to select only the best one night 
performances, including continuing to secure the highest profile comedy available.    
 
The number of tickets purchased by Dartford Borough Council residents continues to increase 
(5%), accounting for 45% of all tickets sold.    

 

Programming Overview 
 
April 

 Secret Love, the life and music of Doris Day, first launched at OTD in 2013, returned for 
another popular matinee performance. 

 Comedy was provided by Tom Stade and Jethro and Pam Ayres returned as part of her 40th 
anniversary tour. 

 Musical performances included Sensational 60s, Bucks Fizz, Elkie Brooks and The Hollies. 

Indicator Target 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 Variance 

to target 

Number of 

tickets sold 

to DBC 

residents  

40% of 

bookers 

53,236 

(33%) 

55,103 

(31%) 

 59,068 

(41%) 

64,884 

(37%) 

85,713 

(41%) 

89,654 

(42%) 

110,709 

(45%) 

5% 

 

Average 

attendance 

per 

performance 

57% 50% 55% 58% 64% 57% 61% 61% 4% 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

5 

 

 For family audiences, to coincide with the Easter holidays, Ballet Theatre UK brought 
Aladdin, the Chuckles Brothers returned with The Chuckles of Oz and a first visit from 
Dinosaur Zoo.  The last Sunday of the month was programmed with the All Star Superslam 
Wrestling. 

 Further one night performances included iMagician. 

 In the Wings Productions returned with a youth production of Hairspray. 

 The two big week long productions were The Full Monty and Anything Goes.  The Full Monty 
came to Dartford on its first tour direct from the West End and Anything Goes was a quality 
production produced by Sheffield Crucible as its Christmas production.   Both productions 
were extremely well received. 

 
May 

 The two highlights of May were performances from Jools Holland and UB40.  Both gigs sold 
out in record breaking time and provided our audience with the opportunity to enjoy big 
name acts in the intimacy of our auditorium. 

 Further concerts included The Real Thing, Boogie Nights (including Gwen Dickey and 
Heatwave) and tributes Jackson Live and Whitney – Queen of the Night. 

 Ellen Kent brought a full production of La Traviata, the Royal Philharmonic Orchestra 
returned with a concert that included Dvorak’s Symphony No. 9 from the New World and 
the Doyly Carte Opera Company brought an evening of highlights from operas by Gilbert and 
Sullivan. 

 The Balletboyz brought a brand-new show followed by the opportunity for the audience to 
take part in a post-show discussion. 

 Comedy was provided by Al Murray, Lee Nelson and Jasper Carrott. 

 The Russian Ice Stars returned with Snow White on Ice starring Rustie Lee as the narrator. 

 Comedy Dirty Dusting returned for one night and new thriller Stone Cold Murder brought a 
chill to Dartford! 

 During Half Term The Pirates of Treasure Island was programmed starring Edele Lynch from 
B*Witched. 

 

June 

 June opened with the comedy Peter Pan Goes Wrong, brought to OTD by Mischief Theatre 
Company.  This is the sequel to The Play That Goes Wrong, which is currently enjoying huge 
success in the West End. 

 During the same week The Tiger That Came to Tea performed during the daytime.  This is a 
popular adaptation by David Wood of the classic children’s book. 

 Oklahoma! was brought to OTD by Music and Lyrics, a consortium of leading regional 
theatres who brought Fiddler on the Roof to Dartford last year.  The production starred Gary 
Wilmot and Belinda Lang. 

 Comedy was brought courtesy of a sell-out performance by Milton Jones and Stewart Lee. 

 The Orchard Youth Theatre presented their showcase The Wonderful World of Roald Dahl, a 
great opportunity for the young people to perform on the main stage. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

6 

 

 Music included The Three Degrees, Ronnie Scott’s All Stars Quintet and a dinning event Jive 
in June in the auditorium with The Jive Aces band - lots of people got up to dance and all 
seemed to have an enjoyable evening. 

 The Tony Award winning musical comedy Avenue Q was presented in Dartford for the first 
time and received excellent feedback. 

 Further performances included The Good Old Days of Variety and Jaleo Flamenco. 
 

July/August 

 The programme began with two performances of Inala, a Zulu ballet that included current 

and former dancers from The Royal Ballet and Rambert accompanied by the choral group 

Ladysmith Black Mambazo.  The production was programmed in Dartford immediately prior 

to a run at Sadler’s Wells. 

 As is traditional in July there were many local stage college hires, including Reynolds, Sylvera 

and Bird College. 

 To coincide with the start of the summer holidays Horrible Histories was programmed for 

seven performances with Groovy Greeks and Incredible Invaders.  Further family 

entertainment included Tree Fu Tom, the tribute Only One Direction and Room on a Broom. 

 There was comedy with local comedian Joe Pasquale and the return of the legendry Ken 

Dodd, who performed until 12.45am, with almost a full house staying until the end! 

 Music included Chris Barber and his band, The Drifters, The Glenn Miller Orchestra, 

Motown’s Greatest Hits and tributes to Simon & Garfunkel and Johnny Cash. 

 In August Spirit of the Dance returned to the venue for one week with a new show featuring 

Dublin’s Irish Tenors. 

 In The Restaurant the increasingly popular dining event programme featured Del Boy & Co 

and Basil & Co. 

September 

 The highlight of September was launching a new tour of the award winning National Theatre 
production of An Inspector Calls.  The production was well received by schools and drama 
attendees and staff were delighted that the original director Stephen Daldry attended the 
First Night. 

 The West End production of The Importance of Being Earnest was also programmed starring 
Nigel Havers. 

 One night performances included Basil Brush at the end of the school holiday, music from 
Chas and Dave, Nathan Carter and Les Mckeown, Michael Morpurgo’s I Believe in Unicorns 
and Ellen Kent’s production of the opera Carmen. 

October 

 The big show in October was The Last Tango with Vincent Simone and Flavia Cacace.  It 
received superb feedback from the audiences over eight performances, including that it was 
the best production that customers had seen in Dartford.  It became the highest grossing 
dance show at OTD. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

7 

 

 As part of Dartford Gets It First, Peppa Pig’s Surprise premiered at OTD. 

 Further entertainment for the family included The Hollywood Special Effects Show. 

 DAODS returned to the venue with Boogie Nights.  The company contacted the marketing 
team to thank them for all their support in driving ticket sales. 

 Music one night performances included tributes Abba Mania, Shawn Klush and ELO 
Experience and Robert Cray and All Star 60s. 

 Tim Vine provided comedy with a sell-out performance.  

 During Peppa Pig, full use of The Restaurant in the evening was made with two dining 
events – the return of the Orchard Jazz Club and Salute to the 1940s – a brand new event 
created by OTD which sold out. 

November 

 There were 38 performances during November! 

  Putting on the Ritz was a new weekly show for Dartford featuring the music of Gershwin, 
Berlin and Porter. 

 Gangster Grannie was an adaptation of David Walliams’ bestselling book.  The production 
very nearly sold out and received a very enthusiastic response from the packed houses.  

 As part of our regular programme of drama, OTD presented a double bill of classic Ghost 
Stories over four performances – The Signalman and The Waiting Room. 

 Comedy one night performances included Milton Jones, Jimeoin and Jim Davidson. 

 Further performances for the family included Ministry of Science and Sing-a-long-a-Frozen. 

 The Royal Philharmonic Orchestra returned with a programme of Viennese classics and 
Russell Watson sang to a packed auditorium. 

 Further music included Glitz, Blitz and 70s Hits and Go West and Nik Kershaw in concert.  
Tributes included The Carpenters’ Story and Roy Orbison. 

December 

 Once again, OTD presented a full and varied seasonal programme with panto as the centre 
piece. 

 Dick Whittington opened to glowing reviews and customer feedback, reflected in very 
strong sales for next year already.  Over 30,000 people attended with higher grossing ticket 
sales than the previous year.  Shane Richie proved to be very popular with Dartford 
audiences and the production also featured a good supporting company, a band and 3D 
special effects. 

 December started with a performance of the operetta Die Fledermaus.  Further one night 
performances included Frankly Sinatra with the popular singer Stephen Triffit, a Christmas 
version of That’ll be the Day and the return of local charity concert Magic of Christmas in aid 
of Alzheimer’s and Dementia Support Services and Bexley Snap. 

 Winter Wonderland, a seasonal dinning event in the auditorium was increased to three 
nights following its successful launch last year and further events in the Restaurant included 
Bubbles and Buble and Only Fools and Two Courses. 

January  
Once again, OTD programmed a packed January, which is traditionally a quiet month in theatre, 
to great sales success: 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

8 

 

 Following pantomime, OTD went straight into the return of New Jersey Nights – a 
celebration of the music of Frankie Valli.  This run significantly exceeded its previous visit’s 
sales. 

 As part of the brand ‘Dartford Gets It First’ OTD launched the latest show from Cirque 
Berserk, which included the motorcycle ‘Globe of Death’! 

 Moscow City Ballet returned for its third New Year season with Giselle and The Nutcracker.   

 The season was preceded once again with a community dance platform on the Monday 
featuring several local dance schools and Bird College linking the segments together.  

 Annie, staring Lesley Joseph played to 84% capacity and received great word of mouth. 

 Finally Market Theatre returned in its post panto slot with its own ‘adult’ take on Snow 
White to much hilarity. 

February  
February was another packed month with 17 different shows with a varied programme including 
comedy, concerts, variety, and children’s performances. 

 The month started with The 39 Steps, Alfred Hitchcock’s classic spy thriller. The production 
visited Dartford for the first time after celebrating ten years in the West End.  The show 
received excellent customer feedback.  

 This was closely followed by Footloose The Musical starring Gareth Gates and Maureen 
Nolan. An explosive rock ‘n’ roll musical celebrating its official opening in Dartford with a 
Gala Evening with attendance from theatre industry professionals and a number of 
celebrities.   

 The Orchard Youth Theatre took on NT Connections for the first time, the National Theatre’s 
nationwide new writing festival. With a company 25 strong of 10 – 19 year olds they 
showcased Carl Grose’s play Gargantua for three performances on stage. 

 One night performances included a sell-out return for Paul Carrack, Swinging at the Cotton 
Club, comedy with Dillie Keane, Lee Nelson and Jongleurs, a talk by Michael Portillo and the 
Syd Lawrence Orchestra with The Music of James Bond and five packed performances of 
Mister Maker for Half Term.  

March 

 March got off to a flying start with a sold out week of Chicago, establishing itself as the 
Orchard Theatre’s best-selling, week long musical of all time. 

 This was closely followed by Into The Hoods: Remixed. A Zoonation and Sadler Wells co-
production. This modern storybook adventure was a “funk-fuelled, fast-paced hip hop 
fairytale”. 

 March came to a close with Olivier Award Nominated West End hit Hetty Feather from the 
best-selling author Jacqueline Wilson. 

 One night performances also included music from Lulu and The Puppini Sisters, a 
journey of music & dance with two performances from Brendan Cole, comedy with Russell 

Kane, tales of endurance from Ray Mears and a collection of concerts featuring the music of 

The Kinks, Dolly Parton, Rod Stewart, Fleetwood Mac and Abba.  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

9 

 

Marketing and Sales 
 
The publication of the Season Brochure three times per year remains the key marketing and PR 
tool, producing a strong upsurge in sales when it hits, backed up by strong advertising 
campaigns.  This activity is complemented with full marketing and Public Relations campaigns 
for each show.  Marketing and PR highlights during the year included: 

 
 Spring Brochure landed week commencing 4th January and generated the highest ever 

brochure sales. 

 An Oklahoma! launch for groups and press took place in May.  Bert Fink (Senior Vice 
President for Rogers and Hammerstein) spoke to key group bookers and photographers 
from the Kent Messenger and News Shopper attended. 

 A Dick Whittington themed promotional stand in Bluewater over a weekend in September. 
This was the first time OTD had a fully branded stand at the shopping centre and fantastic 
levels of engagement were received from the public.  OTD gave away panto print, Season 
Brochures, branded gold chocolate coins and Dick Whittington activity sheets.  The daily 
panto sales doubled the Monday following the event. 

 The Christmas light switch on in Dartford was a hugely successful event. The marketing team 
attended and distributed show print and panto flags and the theatre supported the event’s 
line up by providing members of the panto cast (including Shane Richie), the cast of New 
Jersey Nights and Mister Maker. 

 Wednesday 18 November was ‘Love Theatre Day’ on twitter. OTD supported with twitter 
takeovers, staff interviews and glimpses into life backstage! 

 Forty group bookers and ten key press were invited to the Orchard’s first Season Launch in 
January.  Several show producers and cast were invited to talk about bringing their 
upcoming shows to Dartford, followed by round table press interviews. Guests were then 
able to stay to watch the premiere of Cirque Beserk. 

 A press and groups’ launch for Dirty Dancing was held with over 50 people in attendance, 
including KMFM.  The event included a Q&A with the producer and some of the cast 
performing two dances from the show.  Following the event, a number of the group 
bookers went on to book tickets for the show. 

 
Media coverage 

 
OTD continues to enjoy a strong relationship with the media, including a significant increase in 
television coverage.  Highlights this year included:  

 The press team took journalists from BBC South East, The News Shopper and WOW 
Magazine to an Avenue Q press rehearsal day in London. 

 BBC South East coverage for Tom Stade and The Full Monty in April. 

 A fun Avenue Q press call was arranged with the Dartford Mayor and the ‘Bad Idea Bears’! 
Coverage ran in the Reporter Series and The News Shopper. 

 OTD attended the Inala press rehearsal day in London. Coverage ran with BBC South East. 

 An I Believe in Unicorns photocall was held with ‘real’ unicorns buying a ticket for the show 
from the Orchard Theatre.  Coverage ran online with the Kent Messenger and News 
Shopper. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

10 

 

 BBC South East came to OTD to record a piece on The Hollywood Special Effects Show.  A 
journalist from the Reporter Series had her make-up applied by the show’s make-up artist. 

 The pantomime launch took place in September at the Guildhall in London with Shane 
Richie. The launch was covered by BBC South East, KMFM, Kent Messenger, the News 
Shopper, The Reporter Series and was a successful event enjoyed by all. 

 Members of the marketing team attended Cirque Beserk at Winter Wonderland in Hyde 
Park to meet the cast and conduct interviews to circulate to the local press. 

 The Dick Whittington press night on 15th December was hugely well attended by the press 
and the show received rave reviews! The marketing team created a vox-pops video to 
capture audience comments and posted this on social media to encourage word of mouth. 

 The record breaking run of Chicago included a spot on BBC South East News. 
 

Groups’ Club 
 

Active membership of the Groups’ Club continues to grow.  This is a free scheme, launched two 
years ago to make group bookings as stress free as possible.  Groups’ Club members have been 
invited to the season launches, panto launch, individual show launches and preview trips have 
been arranged to take group bookers to see productions before Dartford to encourage group 
bookings. 
 
Premiere Card 
 
Premiere Card membership has increased by 16% to 2895.  Benefits for OTD’s loyalty card 
include ticket discounts, including two tickets for the price of one on some opening nights, post-
show receptions, newsletters, a discount in The Restaurant and no booking fees. 

 

Community Programme  

Orchard Youth Theatre (OYT) 

 
OYT continued to build its membership.  Highlights for the groups during the year included: 

 The Orchard Youth Theatre show The Wonderful World of Roald Dahl took place in June with 
a good audience – this is a great opportunity for young performers to perform on a big 
stage. 

 OTD took part in National Theatre Connections for the first time, entering a piece entitled 
Gargantua, which was performed in Dartford and then in March at Greenwich Theatre as 
part of a regional festival. 

 
Summer Youth Project (SYP) 

 130 children took part in Oliver!, this year’s Summer Youth Project. 

 This year dog auditions took place for the part of Bullseye and the successful dog was Milo! 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

11 

 

 
Charity fundraising  

Activity included: 

 During the run of Dick Whittington OTD raised £14k for Great Ormond Street Hospital 
(GOSH) as part of Qdos Entertainment’s fundraising campaign for GOSH.  It is hoped Qdos 
will have raised one million pounds by the end of the 2016/17 pantomime season.    

 The marketing team organised ‘The Orchard Theatre Goes Wrong’ charity event in May to 
raise money for GOSH and promote Peter Pan Goes Wrong. Coverage ran in The News 
Shopper and Kent Messenger. 

 Staff at OTD baked home-made cakes for a Bake It Better sale in aid of GOSH, attended by 
the Deputy Mayor and Mayoress.  

 
School Liaison and Partnerships 
OTD continued to strengthen relationships with local schools.  In addition to schools regularly 
attending productions, highlights included: 

 Following interviews, 14 young people from the Dartford and surrounding areas were 
offered Work Experience in 2016. 

 OTD launched the Teachers’ Club – a new initiative to increase communication between 
OTD and schools – providing teachers with information on forthcoming productions and 
supporting materials and workshops, and for teachers to advise OTD on what they require.  
The meeting was followed by the evening performance. 

 

Holiday projects 

 During the October Half Term OTD  ran Film Making Workshops for ages 9+. These were 
extremely popular and almost sold out with 28 young people taking part.  

 Cut Loose Line Dance Workshops saw over 75 people take part in workshops in and around 
Dartford. 

 
Production community engagement 

 
To engage the community in the bigger productions being brought to OTD, projects were 
developed in the run up and during the production runs, including: 

 the Community Line Dance workshops in January in community buildings across 
Dartford to support Footloose.  They focussed on keeping fit and having fun with your 
community. 

 Post show talks continue to be popular, including for An Inspector Calls, The Importance 
of being Earnest and Ballet Boyz.  They allow customers to pose questions to the actors / 
dancers themselves.   

 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

12 

 

Royal Opera House Bridge 
 

 OTD continued to lead its Arts & Culture, Children & Young People (ACCYP) Network, which 
covers North Kent, Thurrock, Southend, Essex, Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire.  This 
followed the successful application to the ROH Bridge to receive funding to develop, deliver 
and chair it. 

 The network has strengthened organisation collaboration through information sharing, 
training and development and audience development –and will culminate in a conference.  
 

Creative Learning produced events 

 Family Day in April was well received with 112 participants attending. 

 In January the department produced a Community Performance Platform called Once 
Upon A Time - a collection of pieces that celebrate the beauty of dance and the tradition 
of stories.  The Creative Learning department worked with local dance and theatre 
companies, who shared stories and explored different ways of using movement to tell 
their chosen tales. 

 

And also..  

OTD continues to play a central and active role in the local community, for example:  

 Hosting the Dartford Borough Council’s Elders Forum in the main auditorium for 
approximately 150 guests. 

 Attending the Town Centre Board meetings. 

 Attending the Town Centre development stakeholder meetings. 

 Sponsoring the Green Room at the Dartford Festival. 

 Allowing the Met Police Dogs to use the building for training 
 

Buildings and premises 
 
 The property is kept in good condition with monthly maintenance carried out by the 

contractor Aster Maintenance Ltd, who maintain the building plant and infrastructure.  Day 
to day maintenance is carried out by the in-house Maintenance Assistant, supported by 
colleagues, who help keep the building in a good and safe condition. 

 The air-cooling installation, thanks to a generous financial contribution and support from 
DBC, was completed during the year in time for summer and has provided customers with a 
more pleasant experience throughout the year. 

 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

13 

 

Front of House  

Front of House activity complements productions on the stage, including: 

 The bars are regularly themed in accordance with the show, for example during Avenue 
Q cocktails were sold named after some of the main characters, which went down very 
well with the customers.  

 A post-show cheese board and wine option was introduced during An Inspector Calls for 
customers to discuss the performance as there was no interval. 

 Cream Teas were sold as a pre-show option for The Importance of Being Earnest, 
enjoyed by nearly one hundred customers.  

 Tea & Tours remain very popular, consisting of a behind-the-scenes visit followed by 
Afternoon Tea. 

 Pre-show meet and greets were programmed, including one with the Dreamboys! 

 The theatre is independently audited monthly by GEM to ensure customer service 
standards remain high. 

 
Other highlights included: 

 OTD was pleased to have been awarded a five star rating once again for Food & 
Hygiene.  

 OTD’s first children’s birthday party was held in the upper foyer for 16 very excited 8 
year olds following a performance of Gansta Granny. 

 For the pantomime season new lines were introduced, including warmed popcorn, giant 
lollies and Tommy the Cat balloons.  

 

Access 

 An Access Forum was held in May – this gave customers an opportunity to have a say in 
the developments of the theatre and also to bring any good practice ideas from other 
venues that they attend. 

 Signed performances were held during the year, including for Oklahoma!, Annie and 
Avenue Q.  Captioned Performances, to allow customers who are hard of hearing to 
enjoy the performance via live subtitles, were programmed, including for An Inspector 
Calls.   

 For Dick Whittington three Access Performances were held - a Signed Performance for 
the hard of hearing, a Relaxed Performance for people on the Autistic Spectrum and an 
Audio Described Performance for people who are partially sighted or blind.  For the 
Audio Described performance OTD offers dog sitting services for Guide Dogs and a pre-
show Touch Tour so that the customers can touch the set on stage and meet members 
of the cast so that they can imagine more of what is occurring during the performance.  
This was the third Audio Described performance that we have had at the theatre and 
they are becoming more popular with this one being the best attended so far. 

 In March OTD took part in Disabled Access Day by offering complimentary tea & coffee, 
along with open discussion. This is a new national event, designed for venues of all kinds 
to open up their doors to visitors with access needs. Although attendance was low, we 
hope that next year will be more popular. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

14 

 

 
Customer Feedback 
 

 During the year OTD received both positive and negative feedback from customers.  All 
feedback is replied to and logged and discussed at management meetings to establish any 
trends.   

 

Human Resources 
 The Orchard Theatre was awarded the Investors In People standard.  During the year the 

management team put in place the recommendations of IIP through an extensive action 
plan.  The onsite visit took place in August with the assessor meeting with 20 people. This 
included a mix of permanent and casual staff and also volunteers.  It revealed that people 
enjoyed working at the theatre and people described the working environment as friendly 
and social. 

 
“I love my job it a good place to work and everyone is friendly” 
 
“It’s a good place to be and I think the theatre is in a far better position than it has been for a 
number of years, there lots more different events here now with week-long shows...I like that 
you can give your ideas as [name] builds a wish list of shows that we think will do well here” 
 
“I do love it here, the people are close, the support is there and it makes it a good place to work  
 
 

 The new post of General Manager (Operations) was advertised.  Sally Callaghan joined OTD 
in the role from the Churchill Theatre Bromley.  The role is responsible for overseeing all 
strategic operations at the venue including Health and Safety, Technical and Hospitality. 

 Tom Blackwell successfully completed his technical apprenticeship and gave great feedback 
on the scheme itself and the wealth of knowledge and training that he has gained from the 
role.   

 Jessica Bond also completed her apprenticeship in the marketing department and has 
chosen to stay on for a further year and work towards her Level 3 NVQ.  As above Jess has 
developed hugely in the role and has become an invaluable part of the marketing team. 

 The new post of Stage Door Supervisor has been created to lead the team as the 
communication and security hub of the building. 

 Chris Glover was made a Director of UK Theatre, the UK’s leading theatre and performing 
arts membership organization. 

 

The Churchill Theatre Bromley joined HQ Theatres & Hospitality in April 2016 - a strategic 
acquisition to ensure that both Dartford and Bromley received the best touring product.  Chris 
Glover leads the management teams at both venues, overseeing the strategic operation, 
budgets and programming and marketing strategies.  The role of Theatre Administrator has 
developed into Administration Manager and splits time between both Dartford and Bromley 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

15 

 

overseeing the departments at both venues.  The role is supported by a part time Administrator 
at Bromley.   

The management team in 2015/16 consisted of: 

 Theatre Director – Chris Glover  

 General Manager (Operations) – Sally Callaghan  

 Administration Manager – Rebecca Stevens 

 Marketing & Sales Manager – Beth Nichols 

 Ticket Office Manager - Janet Kimber 

 Hospitality General Manager  –  Anna Marie Lambert 

 Front of House Manager - Zelda Kitto 

 Technical & Buildings Manager – Will West 

 

Health and Safety 
 

OTD continues to use the services of RB Health and Safety Solutions to support it in its aim to 
provide a safe environment for employees, visitors and customers. Regular workplace 
assessments are carried out by the consultancy with a full report issued.  The H&S programme 
included: 

 
- Servicing included fire extinguishers, emergency lighting, fire alarm and the sprinkler 

system.  
- Full staff evacuation drills were conducted and signed off.  
- The Fire Risk Assessment took place.  
- Risk Assessments continue to be reviewed on a regular basis.  
- An internal Health & Safety staff committee meets regularly.  
- Alongside this, weekly Health & Safety discussions are held as part of the managers’ 

meeting. 
- Staff training has included Manual Handling, First Aid and COSH.   

 

Financial 

As per Schedule Two, a full set of Statutory Accounts will be available in October.  This will be 
issued as an addendum to this report. 

 

Chris Glover, Theatre Director 

23rd Sept 2016 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk




SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 2016-17

15 November 2016 7 February 2017 25 April 2017

Presentation by CEO of 
Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation [D/D]

Fastrack Service - Update from 
Arriva and KCC [D/D Nov. 2015] 

Princes Park Annual Update 
and Forward Plan

Orchard Theatre Annual 
Report 2015-16 [W.P.] 

Orchard Theatre Accounts 
2014-15 Financial Year [WP]

Draw-Down(s) – t.b.a.

Work Plan 2016-17: Review Work Plan 2016-17: Review Draft Work Plan for 2017-18




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2016
	5 To consider references from other Committees - Cabinet 27 October 2016
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	9 Orchard Theatre Annual Report 2015 - 16 [Work Plan]
	Item 9 APPENDIX A Monitoring Schedule
	Item 9 APPENDIX B Dartford Annual Report 2015-2016

	10 Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2016-17



